THE LATE NORSE SITE OF FRESWICK

Colleen Batey

THE LOCATION

Freswick Links is situated at the head of Freswick Bay in the parish of
Canisbay, far north on the east coast of Caithness [Fig. 3.1]. It is an area of
shifting sand dunes rising twenty to thirty feet (6m - 9m) to the general land
level, of gullies inscribed by the wind and now the home of countless
rabbits. The area is delimited on the south side by Freswick Burn and on
the north side by the road to Skirza Head; in all, an area of half a mile from
north to south, by a quarter of a mile from east to west. In some places the
wind has swept away large amounts of sand to reveal the old land surface
and traces of masonry. The site today is characterised by large amounts of
stones, reddened by fire and shattered by heat; and by extensive traces of
kitchen midden (most commonly limpet shells, animal and fish bones), the
debris from the occupation of the site and including remains from the
prehistoric period to the twelfth and thirteenth centuries. Settlement has
been traced here both by the discovery of stray finds by local people and
through the excavations of A.J.H. Edwards, F. Tress Barry, A.O. Curle
and V.G. Childe.

PRE-NORSE OCCUPATION

The earliest evidence from the locality is in the form of ‘small truncated
blades with batter-trimmed edges’ of the microlithic industry and
considered to be Mesolithic (Lacaille 1937.56, 63). It is described only as ‘in
the neighbourhood of Freswick Bay’, but is of importance because of its
early dating. However, whether microlithic flint is Mesolithic or Bronze
Age is a moot point.

Excavations by Edwards in the 1920s (Edwards 1925. 89-94) in a gully
some six hundred yards (550m) north of Freswick House, produced an
oval-shaped construction of single boulders with a gap to the south-west
side, interpreted as a doorway. Edwards considered this to be a prehistoric
hut circle although, despite the proximity of a midden deposit, the only
find was a sandstone sinker with longtitudinal groove — a find commonto
other periods. Further work by Edwards in 1926 (1927. 200-2) revealed
walls of single boulders forming three structures interpreted as earth
houses. One, for example, comprised two chambers and a paved entrance
passage. An adjacent structure took a similar pear-shaped form, but was
larger; and an interesting feature of the third was clay plastering on the
interior of the-walls. There was a curious lack of internal finds, but the
adjacent midden produced fish bones and some fragments of plain, hand-
made- pottery. The asserted pre-Norse evidence for these structures relies
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Fig. 3.1. Location Map of Freswick.
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on the presence of a saddle quern of an apparently prehistoric type, a flint
scraper from the midden and also a spindle-whorl of a femur-head animal
bone. Each of these are common types and could be dated up to and
including the Norse period.

The work of Tress Barry at the turn of the century on the brochs of
Caithness indicated that the sandhills on the margin of the bay to the north
of Freswick House concealed a large structure with walls seven feet (2.1m)
high and eleven and a half feet (3.5m) wide (Anderson 1900. 143-4). Within
the walls, fourteen steps remained and also a chamber within the thickness
of the wall; this was reasonably interpreted as a broch. The finds ranged
from two bones of the Great Auk to bone pins and a borer, half a bone
whorl and two double-edged bone combs with bronze rivets. Here there
are apparently prehistoric and Norse finds mixed together, but since
neither the stratigraphy nor the spatial distribution of the finds is detailed
in the report, the nature of the re-use of the site must remain conjecture.

NORSE OCCUPATION

Despite the presence of place-names of Scandinavian origin in Caithness,
structural remains are remarkably few. Indeed the 1911 Royal
Commission survey failed to detect any at all (R.C.A.H.M.S. 1911). More
recent fieldwork is, however, rectifying this situation; for instance, surface
finds have been made in bays on the north coast of Caithness and are
mentioned below. The best known site, however, is Freswick on the east
coast.

In the two sagas, Njal's Saga and Orkneyinga Saga, the site of :Prasvik is
mentioned: this is commonly identified with Freswick (Taylor 1938. 397
footnote 3). In Njal’s Saga, Earl Sigurd’s brother-in-law is described as
Havard of Freswick (ch. LXXXV Magnusson & Palsson 1960. 183) and
later Kari Solmundson and his crew sailed to Caithness and ‘went ashore at
Freswick to the home of a worthy man called Skeggi...’ (ibid. ch.CLV.
344). In Orkneyinga Saga, ‘Svein Asleifarson was at Freswick in
Caithness..... looking after the estate of his stepsons’ (ch. XCII Palsson &
Edwards 1978. 165).

EXCAVATIONS AT FRESWICK : 1937-1938
The Buildings

The first excavations on Freswick Links to produce Norse remains were by
Curle in 1937. These were undertaken as a result of rapid wind erosion and
sand quarrying revealing traces of buildings, midden and burnt stones, and
the discovery of large amounts of coarse unglazed pottery with grass
markings. The buildings uncovered he divided into three groups, A, B and
C [Fig. 3.2]. Buildings 1 to 5 form Group A; Building 6 forms Group B;
Building 7 forms Group C, with A being the first uncovered and
consequently theoretically the latest (Curle 1939).
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Group A consisted of four buildings and a suggested boat naust
(Building S). Building 1 had walls of sandwich construction, that is an
outer stone shell with inner earth core; it measured internally thirty feet by
fourteen (9m x 4.5m). The interior was filled with midden material which
yielded both fragments of mediaeval glazed and unglazed pottery, and
sherds of coarse pottery which Curle interpreted as Viking. Dominating
the central axis of the house was the traditional long fire of eleven feet
(3.4m) in length. A drain in the house was covered by heavy flagstones and
led into a small interior chamber with a hearth of burnt stones and peat
ash. A blocked-off doorway at the back of this chamber and possible
benches along the wall, have led to the interpretation that in a secondary
use this was a Viking bathhouse. A pile of levigated clay there may indicate
a subsequent amendment to a potter’s working area.

Building 2 lay immediately adjacent to this building, separated by a
mutual wall. It was thirty feet (9m) long and, as it lacked all traces of a
central hearth, could possibly have been a storehouse. Once again, there
was midden on the floor surface.

Building 3 was a range of badly-damaged rooms at the south west corner
of Building 1. One room had five superimposed floor levels of flat stones,
the uppermost very carefully fitted together and rising slightly in the
centre. Finds seem to indicate that this was a smithing area — for instance
slag, residue of bog iron ore and six haunched bones. Non-industrial finds
came from the extreme west end, which was badly damaged and could
therefore have been from a different phase of occupation. These include a
hammer-headed bronze pin and a small-toothed, single-sided comb.

Building 4, twenty-nine feet by twelve and a half (8.8m x 3.8m), with
walls two and a half feet (.8m) wide, lay to the north of these buildings,
where the walls were reduced to foundation level. Although it is on a
different alignment, it has been taken as contemporary with the others. A
curious feature was found north of the doorway, being a box-like enclosure
five by four feet (1.5m x 1.2m), divided lengthwise into two areas with one
paved; it may have been for animals or for storage, but there is no
conclusive evidence. Once again, in the house a long fire dominated the
central axis, and other features noted include a possible bed in the form of a
slightly raised area in the south-east corner, outlined by a setting of
flagstones. Part of the building wall may originally have been constructed
of turf, as no traces of an outer shell are indicated.

The so-called ‘naust’ was an irregular U-shaped construction with
foundations of large, heavy boulders. However [see Fig. 3.2], this
interpretation may possibly be revised to take account of traces of
buildings of different phases.

These Group A buildings were dated by Curle to the thirteenth century
on the basis of one sherd of mediaeval pottery paralleled in Essex at a site
with occupation ending in the mid-thirteenth century. He thus associated
the end of the occupation of Freswick with the levying of fines by
Alexander III in 1264 on Caithness for the rendering of assistance to
Haakon of Norway (Curle 1939. 86-7). Such precision in dating on the
basis of pottery might however be challenged today.
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A brief summary of Group A would therefore be:

a) two rectangular buildings, one later with a bathhouse and the
other possibly a storehouse with finds of pottery ranging up to the
end of the thirteenth century. A more precise date for the other finds
is rather difficult because they are types common throughout the
Norse period, e.g. perforated femur-head whorls and ‘Viking’
cooking vessel fragments. Earlier finds, possibly including the small-
toothed single-sided comb, may be from earlier phases at the
damaged western end of the building.

b) the smithy with associated material, slag and hones for example.

c) the isolated Building 4, possibly of earlier construction because of
its different alignment — although this is difficult to tell from the
finds which include a tapered pennanular ring and part of a
haunched hone.

d) the possible ‘naust’ of larger boulder walls and irregular U-shape.

If the isolated Building 4 is contemporary with the rest of Group A, the
plan would have resembled a courtyard type of farm, the bath and smithy
being on the southern wing because of the danger from fire. Other farm
buildings one might have expected to find, such as stables and byres, are
not represented, but may possibly have been on the north side, and at the
time of excavation they were buried under very deep sand.

Group B was located partially underlying Building 4 of Group A,
although this relationship is far from clear on the published plan. Building
6 to the west was embedded in the wall, eighty-one feet long by five wide
(24m x 1.5m), of a larger ‘structure’ and which appears to represent an
earlier phase. The walls were on average three feet (.9m) thick, with the
interior length being thirty-six and a half feet (11.1m) with a long hearth.
Five postholes to the south and four to the north indicate the method of
construction of the roof, being an aisled support of upright and cross
timbers. The eastern end of the house was covered by midden which
produced, for example, a comb, an iron knife-blade and a large piece of
steatite vessel.

Only fragments of buildings from the rest of this group remained,
possibly representing store-houses. Midden deposits here produced the
portion of a pennanular brooch with zoomorphic terminal.

Group C was found to underlie the main block of Group A, with a
north-south orientation and, although badly-damaged, the walls could be
seen to be up to four feet (1.2m) across, and of sandwich construction as
with Group A. In the west wall, the skull of a small whale had been
incorporated. The southern part of the building of Group C was possibly a
barn, as it had a very hard floor of clay and peat ash, and no certain central
hearth remains. In the south-east corner was a kiln for drying corn or
fodder apparently built into the original structure. Beyond the partition
wall a second kiln was located. The finds from here include hand-made
pottery fragments, a partially-worked bone pin and a bronze piece
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EXCAVATIONS AT FRESWICK : 1942

Further excavations at the site were directed by Childe in 1942 because the
combined action of sand quarrying and winter storms revealed another
building complex to the north-east of Curle’s excavations, ‘on the seaward
edge of the high dune’ (Childe 1942. 5-17). These produced a midden layer
which appeared to be associated with Curle’s buildings and a single
complex of building phases with no evidence for surrounding structures.

The Buildings

Phase 1 comprised a long house, twenty-eight feet (8.5m) long, with the
.walls founded on a bed of grey clay and a basal course of thin stone slabs;
the eastern part had been lost because of erosion. In the centre of the house
was a long fire represented by a bed of peat ash fifteen feet (4.6m) long with
an oval fire pit at the west end.

Phase 2 [Figs. 3.6; 3.7] had walls constructed of large boulders, and in
the west room the floor was formed of an irregular pavement covered with
midden. This’ was bounded by a groove roughly marked out by pairs of
thin slates sunk into the floor, and interpreted as a groove for a wooden
partition with 'a gap for the doorway. The entrance had a long paved
passage in this phase.’

Phase 3 was a new construction built on top of the east part of the house
incorporating some of the walls, but mostly separated from phase two by
one foot (.3m) of sand accumulation. This building had no hearth.

The Finds

In the finds recovered, there was a lack of items which could be attributed
to the second and third phases. There was in general the same ‘Viking’
pottery as before, but with more ‘sophisticated’ rims, generally flattened
and with almost an internal flange. In the first phase, one almost complete
pot was found in the corner of the building, which had been crushed when
the wall collapsed. This was a flat-based open bowl, in close association
with a whalebone draughtsman. This draughtsman has many
Scandinavian parallels, especially from the Tyskebryggen, Bergen (Grieg
1932. 260, Fig. 233), which was found in a deposit predating the 1248
burning layer and considered to be post 1200. Other close parallels have
come from Oslo, Trondheim and Sigtuna. Dating the structures therefore
is rather problematical: the draughtsman from phase one could date from
the thirteenth century (if the continental analogy is reliable in this context),
and consequently phases two and three are later on stratigraphical
grounds. However, the gap between these phases cannot be judged because
in a single winter storm, for instance, one foot (.3m) of sand could have
covered the site. The remaining finds from these excavations comprised
stone weights and femur-head whorls amongst other items: all things
which are insufficient to date individual phases.

The excavations of Curle and Childe revealed substantial building-
remains and many valuable artefacts; a rich group of finds rather than
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layer could almost be removed in a single plate. Species identified from the
columns and eroding spread of material include: ox, sheep and pig; cod,
haddock, ling, crab and various types of shell-fish; cereals including oats
and barley; and various grasses and sedges consistent with a heathland and
dune environment. However, perhaps the most interesting fact to emerge
from the preliminary analysis is that virtually all the fish bone collected
both in the sample and randomly from the beach midden is from fish overa
metre long.

Our understanding of Freswick is still based primarily on that of the
excavators of 1937 and 1942. Questions remain, however, about the
relationships of the structures and their artefacts — questions that have
only multiplied following the' very brlef investigation of 1979 and the
multiplicity of random finds.

The scale of the problem is indicated by the area of the known site (Y,
mile x Y/, miley (.8km x .4km) most of which suffers from continuing
erosion. And the known site itself continues to grow so that now it extends
south of the burn. Alterations in the cellars of the Castle, which led to
further archeological investigation in the autumn of 1979, revealed midden
material with large concentrations of Freswick pottery possibly related to
a structure underlying the present Castle.

This re-emphasises the need to study the whole area of Freswick as a
context for the known site. For at Freswick there is undoubtedly an
unparalleled opportunity to study settlement in relation to its environment
in the Late Norse Period.

Acknowledgement

I am especially grateful to Mr. D.J. Rackham, Mrs. A.M. Donaldson and Mr. A. Curtis of
Durham University, and Mr. A. Jones of York University, for their rapid processing and
sorting of the midden material from Freswick. Thanks are also due to the Royal Commission
on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland, Edinburgh, for photographs of
Childe’s excavations (Figs. 3.6, 3.7); to the National Museum of Antiquities of Scotland,
Edinburgh, for photographs of the objects (Figs. 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.8); to Mr. C.D. Morris for
advice; to Mr. N. Emery and Miss Lesley Davenport for the maps, re-drawn after the
originals; and to Mr. K. King for assistance on the survey and the excavations at the Castle.

References

Anderson, J. Notices of Nine Brochs along the Caithness coast from Keiss Bay to Skirza
Head, excavated by Sir Frances Tress Barry, Bart., M.P., of Keiss Castle, Caithness, in
P.S.A.S. 1900-1. XXXV: 112-148. '

Childe, V.G. Another Late Viking House at Freswick, Caithness, in P.S.4.5. 1942.
LXXVII: 5-17.

Curle, A.O. The Viking Settlement at Freswick, Caithness. Report on excavations carried
out in 1937 and 1938, in P.S.4.S. 1939. LXXXIII: 71-110.

Curle, A.Q. Dwellings of the Viking Period: Jarlshof and Freswick, in Shetelig, H. ed.
Viking Antiquities of Britain and Ireland. 1954. VI: 11-63.

Edwards, A.J.H. Excavation of a Chambered Cairn at Ham, Caithness and of hut circle
and two earth houses at Freswick Links, Caithness, in P.S.4.S. 1924-5. LIX: 85-94.

Edwards, A.J.H. Excavations of Graves at Ackergill and of an earthhouse at Freswick

58



Links, Caithness, and a description of the discovery of a Viking grave at Reay, Caithness, in
P.S.A.S, 1926-7, LXI: 196-209.

Edwards, A.J.H. A brooch fragment from Freswick Links, Caithness, in P.S.4.S. 1939-40.
LXXIV: 138.

Grieg, S. Middelalderske Byfund fra Bergen og Oslo. 1933.

Grieg, S. Viking Antiquities of Britain and Ireland, Volume 3 Scotland. 1940.

Hamilton, J.R.C. Excavations at Jarlshof, Shetland. 1956.

Lacaille, A.D. Microlithic Industries of Scotland, in Transactions of the Glasgow
Archaeological Saciety. 1937. IX. pt 1: 56-73.

Magnusson, M & Pélsson, H. eds. Njal's Saga. 1960.

Morris, C.D. Birsay “Small Sites” Excavations and Survey 1978, in Northern Studies, 1979.
vol. 13: 3-19.

Martensson, A. Uppgravt forflutet for PK banken i Lund. En investering i arkeologi. 1976.

Pélsson, H. & Edwards, P. eds. Orkneyinga Saga. 1978.

Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland. Third Report.
The Inventory of Monuments and Constructions in the County of Caithness. 1911.

Taylor, A.B. ed. The Orkneyinga Saga. 1938.

59






